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1. Name of Property

historic name PENN COLIEGE HISTORIC DISTRICT

other names/site number William Penn College

2. Location

street & number 201 Trueblood Avenue N/A not for publication
city or town Oskaloosa N/A vicinity

state Iowa code __IA county Mahaska code __123 zip code 52577

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this (X nomination

_ request for determination of eligibility) meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
dts _ does not meet) the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant (_ nationally
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_ See continuation sheet
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Penn College Historic District
Name of Property

Mahaska County, Towa

County and State

5. Classification

Category of Property

Ownership of Property
(Check only one line)

(Check as many lines as apply)

X private _ building(s)

_ public-local X district

_ public-State _ site

_ public-Federal " _ structure
_ object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

The Quaker Testimony in Qskalogsa, Towa_

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
4 2 buildings
1 sites
2 1 structures
objects
7 3 Total

Number of contributing resources
previously listed in the National Register

)

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION/College

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION/College

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19TH & EARLY 20TH CENTURY
AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Prairie School

LATE LATE 19TH & EARLY 20TH CENTURY
REVIVALS/Colonial Revival

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)
foundation Concrete
walls Brick
Concrete
roof Asphalt
other Metal
Glass

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Name of Property

Mahaska County, Jowa

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" on one or more lines for the criteria qualifying the property

for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

B  Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

_ D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" on all the lines that apply)

Property is:

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

a birthplace or grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

a commemorative property.

Q = M o O

less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance

1916-1945

Significant Dates

1917-1923

Significant Person

(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder

A immon

Pr

Bir

Raw

n

Narrative Statement of Significance - (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets)

9. Ma'or Biblio raz hy References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

_ previous determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

_ Ppreviously listed in the National Register

_ previously determined eligible by the National
Record

_ designated a National Historic Landmark

_ recorded by American Buildings Survey
#

_ recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:

X State Historical Preservation Office

_ Other State agency
_ Federal agency

_ Local government
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_ Other
Name of repository
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of Property _13.75 acres

UTM References RECTANGLE ‘
Potrt (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.) 51T& SHown oM WU.5.6.5. MP AS A ABC
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Zone Easting Northing a continuation sheet)
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11. Form Prepared By
name/title William C. Page. Public Historian; Joanne R. Walroth
organization _ Oskaloosa Historic Preservation Commission date __October 28, 1994
street & number _ 520 East Sheridan Avenue telephone _315-243-5740: FAX 515-243-7285
city or town Des Moines state _ Jowa zip code __50313

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs - Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items - (Check with the SHPO or FPO for anv additional items)

Pro ertv (pwner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name William Penn College
street & number _ 201 Trueblood Avenue telephone 515-673-1001
city or town Oskaloosa  state _ Iowa zip code __52557
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Situated on the crest of a east-west ridge of land and located approximately one miles north of the
Oskaloosa City Park in downtown Oskaloosa, Iowa, the Penn College Historic District comprises
about 14 acres of land on the outskirts of the city. The district contains ten resources--one site, three
structures, and six buildings.

Most of the resources cluster around the Penn College Quadrangle, which is the other site. Penn Hall,
the Gymnasium, and Spencer Memorial Chapel form three sides of this quadrangle. Trueblood
Avenue defines the fourth. The open space within this collegiate quadrangle is landscaped with
entrance features, vehicular drives, pedestrian walks, plantings, and other amenities. Other historic
resources, such as the Women's Residence Building (now called Lewis Hall) and the Central Heating
Plant are situated at the far corners of this central area and help anchor it.

The approach to the historic district is usually from the south and either along North Market Street or
Penn Boulevard. North Market Street stands directly east of the historic district. This approach is
marked by an entrance gate at the intersection of Trueblood Avenue and North Market Street. The
historic district's presence is also conveyed by Spencer Memorial Chapel, whose east elevation abuts
North Market, and Lewis Hall, a women' residential complex, whose east elevation also abuts North
Market. The approach along Penn Boulevard is marked by the Gymnasium, which stands as a vista at
the terminus of this street.

The result of a master plan, prepared by a professional architect, and implemented over a period of
several years, the Penn College Historic District forms a unified design of space, architecture, and
function. Influenced by the Prairie School of architecture, this district projects a monumental sense of
place, achieved through the placement of buildings and features, as well as elements of their design
such as roof configurations, massing, and scale. Spencer Memorial Chapel with its prominent cupola
provides a contrasting vertical note to this otherwise horizontal composition.

Althcugh the college's campus has greatly expanded over the years, the Penn College Quadrangle
continues today to serve as the focal point of the college because it remains the physical core of the
institution.

PENN COLLEGE HISTORIC DISTRICT

Boundaries

The Penn College Historic District contains approximately 14 acres of land. The edges of the historic
campus are demarcated on the south and east by physical features--Trueblood Avenue and North
Market Street--and on the north and west by land use areas, which separate the historic campus from
later improvements to it.
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These boundaries contain the entire improved area of the new-site campus as established in 1916 by

Penn College.

Resources

The Penn College Historic District contains eleven resources. They include the following eight

contributing and three noncontributing resources:

1. SITE

This site is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

2. PENNHALL

This building is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

3. SPENCER MEMORIAL CHAPEL

This building is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

—4~ GYMNASIUM AND ADDITION

This building is counted as one noncontributing resource to the historic district.

S. SOUTHEAST MEMORIAL GATE

This structure is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

6. SOUTHWEST MEMORIAL GATE

This structure is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

7. WOMEN'S RESIDENCE BUILDING

This building is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district. It is now

known as Lewis Hall.
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8. CENTRAL HEATING PLANT

This building is counted as one contributing resource to the historic district.

9. INDUSTRIAL ARTS BUILDING #1

This building is counted as one noncontributing resource to the historic district.

10. TENNIS COURTS

This structure is counted as one noncontributing resource to the historic district.

INDIVIDUAL RESOURCE DESCRIPTIONS
Site

The site of the Penn College Historic District comprises all land within its boundaries and its natural
features. The most important characteristic of these features is the high situation of its site. Located on
the crest of a ridge, running east and west, and associated with the topographical transition between the
flood plain of the Skunk River and the upland prairie lands, this setting provides the historic district
with a commanding view.

The Penn College Quadrangle, a designed historic landscape, is the dominant built feature of this site.
It is formed by the combined presence of primary and secondary elements. There are five primary
elements--Penn Hall on the north, Spencer Memorial Chapel on the east, Trueblood Avenue on the
south, and the Gymnasium and addition on the west. A vehicular drive, a secondary element located
directly adjacent to the Gymnasium also defines this edge on the west. Each of these buildings and
structures provides a hard edge to the Lawn, which is another primary element in the design.

Other secondary elements give further definition to the Penn College Quadrangle. They include the
Southeast Memorial Gate and the Southwest Memorial Gate. Both are located adjacent to Trueblood
Avenue and provide entrance features to the quadrangle. The Women's Residence Building and the
Central Heating Plant provide additional secondary element to the Penn College Quadrangle and act as
corner anchors for it. Because of these strong primary and secondary definitions, the quadrangle
Lawn, to which the area is otherwise given over, serves as a dramatic and appealing contrast to them.

The Lawn measures approximately 400’ x 320". It is planted with grass and well maintained. Various
species of trees are planted along its perimeter. Several secondary elements embellish the Lawn. They
include a central pedestrian walk, running from Trueblood Avenue to the main entrance of Penn Hall, a
pedestrian walk located adjacent to Penn Hall on the south, and a system of pedestrian walks accessing
Spencer Memorial Chapel. Some portions of these walks were given to the college as class gifts
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during the 1920s. The Lawn is further enhanced with a central feature located about midway along the
central pedestrian walk, namely, a concrete flag stand and pole and a concrete edged flower bed.

Penn Hall

Constructed in 1916-1917, the footprint of Penn Hall measures 287' x 57.5' (length by width) and
contains about 1,680 square feet on each of its three floors. The building rests on a foundation of
concrete. The structural system of this building is steel frame. Exterior walls are clad with brick and
Bedford stone. The shape of the low-pitched roof is hipped with dormers. Originally covered with
tile, it has been reroofed twice with asphalt shingles.

The facade of the building, which faces south, contains three entryways. The central entry features a
massive tower with a concrete plaque bearing the word "Penn.” The west and east entries are each
capped with hipped roofs intersecting that of the main building. The entry on the west features a
plaque with the words "Natural Sciences," while the entry on the east features a plaque with the words
"Liberal Arts."

On the interior, the hallways are unusual because of their floor covering--which is made of a
Magnasite-like material--and because of their great width. Most interior doorways are original--
wooden with decorative etched glass panels on the top half. On the first floor. the central hallway
contains a split staircase, with a large curved concrete bench flanking the rail. Interior wall finishes are
plaster, with wood paneling now cladding some of the walls.

The structural design of Penn Hall shows a great deal of attention. The concrete construction under
Penn Hall and the Women's Residence Building employed no wooden joists in their construction.
Instead, the joists are all of poured concrete. in U-shaped forms that run the width of the building.
Two or three courses of brick make up the bearing walls that run the fuil height of the building. Big
perimeter tiles were implanted also to draw moisture away from the basements of these buildings.
Simmons' College Avenue Meeting House also employs a similar design in the use of tile in the

basement.

The basement and first floors of Penn Hall have a concrete topping, at least eight inches thick, laid
over a layer of clay tile, which was placed tlat. The second and third floors and all of the steps in
Penn oniginally were concrete over clay tile also, but they were topped with a concrete and asphalt
aggregate mix. This gave additional structural support to the floors, but also made them quieter. This
mix was put in while hot and then rolled down smooth. It was approximately 1.5 to 2 inches thick.
This flooring surtace proved to be hard to maintain by modern standards. An oil-based sweeping
compound was originally used to clean it, but this was subsequently determined to pose a fire hazard.
At some date now undetermined. these floors were stripped down to remove all of the residual oil.
Now a polymer tloor finish is put on to maintain the surfaces of these floors.

Both Penn Hall and the Women's Residence Building were wired for electricity when they were
constructed, and these lines are all encased in conduit.
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The basement connects with the underground tunnel to the Central Heating Plant, used to heat Penn
Hall. The tunnels for Penn and the Women's Residence Building and the subsequent extensions for
Spencer Memorial Chapel and the gymnasium were placed underground, and this has resulted in few
maintenance problems over the years. When the newer campus buildings, including Watson and Eltse
Halls, the Atkins Memorial Union, and Wilcox Library were constructed, the pipes to carry the live
steam to heat them were buried directly in the ground, without the use of tunnels to protect them. This -
newer design has been much more difficult to maintain than Simmons' older concept.

An innovation of Architect Simmons' design, and less successful, involved his attempt to ventilate
Penn Hall through the use of this tunnel. Penn was designed with ventilating ducts built into the
interior walls, with each room containing an inward duct near the ceiling and an outward duct close to
the floor. Within the interior walls, ventilating channels were built that extended from the basement to
the roof. A huge eight-foot diameter squirrel cage fan operating with a twelve inch belt was designed
to push air through the tunnel used to heat the building, with the current then to go through the walls,
out the upper ducts in each room, cooling them in the process, out the lower duct, then to continue
upward to the next floor, and eventually to the roof, where the air was expelled. Although the design
was innovative and could probably have worked, it was only utilized once. On that occasion, the air
current performed as expected, but it also carried coal dust from the Central Heating Plant into every
room in Penn Hall. The system was never tried again. Perhaps if a way had been found to connect
the fan to the tunnel on the outside, the system might have been judged operable.

Penn Hall, the Women's Residence Building, and the Central Heating Plant were all originally roofed
in identical red tile. When Spencer Memorial Chapel was built a few years later, tiles of the same
color, but of a different length, were used to roof it. In subsequent years it became impossible to find
replacement tiles for the three oldest buildings, and the roofs of both Penn and Lewis Halls had
deteriorated to the point where they needed to be replaced. Approximately in 1980 these buildings
were reroofed with very heavy shingles. These soon began to crack because of their weight. In the
last few years, both of these buildings have been reroofed again, this time with lighter-weight, light-
red colored shingles.

A room on the third floor of Penn Hall at the east end was used originally to house the college library.
This was intended to be a temporary arrangement, but it continued much longer than had been
anticipated, and Architect Simmons' design had not foreseen this. Although the building is
extraordinarily well constructed, it was not meant to carry such a heavy load. By 1960, the library
contained 45,000 books, and the building was showing the ill-effects. "The northeast corner of the
building walls was developing cracks in the masonry in evidence of the strain." (Watson, William
Penn College, pp. 81-82). The building also settled about one-half an inch on that corner, according
to Robert Pierson, former Director of Maintenance for the college, whose father also served the college
in this position. As a result over concern for Penn Hall, the construction of a new library became a
priority for the college. Wilcox Library opened in 1964, and the books were all transferred to the new
quarters. Since then the old library rooms have been remodeled into classrooms.

The contractor for Penn Hall was Neumann & Co., of Des Moines. A strong possibility exists that
this firm was also the contractor for the Central Heating Plant and the Women's Residence Building,
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as all three were constructed at about the same time and with the same materials. No documentation,
however, has been found to substantiate this to date.

Although original doors and metal industrial style 12/8 windows were replaced in 1992, their cavities
survive intact. The original steel industrial windows on the west end of this building were bricked in
at some undetermined date. The original tile roof is now covered with asphalt shingles. The roof of
Penn Hall originally contained an observatory with telescope. These have been removed in recent
years due to lack of use and the high expense of maintaining the observatory. The telescope now rests
in the center of the basement of Penn, near the base of the central staircase.

Spencer Memorial Chapel

Constructed in 1922-1923, this is a 1-story building with a lower level beneath the main floor. The
footprint of this building measures approximately 57' x 115". It rests on a brick and concrete
foundation. Walls are clad with brick and the hipped roof is covered with tile. A cupola surmounts
this roof. The lower level of this building is used for student recreation, including bowling alleys and
roller skating area. The upper level is an auditorium with stage and pipe organ.

When approaching the campus from North Market Street, Spencer Memorial Chapel, prominently
sited on a hilltop, visually dominates the approach. Constructed of rough red brick, laid in Flemish
bond, contrasted with trim of Bedford stone from Indiana, the exterior matches in detail both Penn
Hall and the Women's Residence Building. The red tile used on the roof, while visually the same as
that used on the earlier buildings, however, consists of tiles of a different length, easier to obtain
today. For that reason, this building has not yet needed reroofing. The roof is capped by a large,
ornamental cupola. The pedimented portico is supported by wood columns. This pediment and a
cornice, which surrounds the building, are embellished with denticulation. Windows on the facade are
generally 8/8 double hung sash, while those on the sides of the building, while also possessing small
panes, are arched at the top. The windows are of opaque glass. Four exterior cast concrete plaques
with fruit designs grace each comer of the building, on the east and west sides.

Inside the massive front doors on the south side of the building, the main level floor is laid in small
white and black mosaic tiles. The entrance hallway presently contains portraits of the college's past
presidents. The entrance to the auditorium faces this front entryway. The auditorium floor slopes
gradually down toward the front stage, which is placed on the north end. A balcony stretches across
the rear of the auditorium. Four large ornamental chandeliers light the room. The interior of the
auditorium presents a rather severe appearance, with little decorative trimming of any kind.

Funds for the building were contributed by the wife and daughters of Harry L. Spencer "as a memorial
to one who believed that those who prosper in a community should contribute to its life and progress."
(Watson, William Penn College, p. 77.) Although the Spencer family were not Quakers, they had
previously given large donations to the college's various fund raising campaigns. A massive Kilgen
pipe organ was later contributed by the Spencers' two daughters, and one of their sons-in-law
established a trust fund to provide funds for the organ's maintenance.
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The cornerstone was laid in October 1921, and the chapel was dedicated in 1923. A tunnel was built
to connect Spencer with the Central Heating Plant, and this heating system is still utilized today. It
provides steam heat radiation, and the radiators are recessed back into the building's outer walls. The
outer walls are solid brick. The main floor has solid concrete and steel reinforcements supporting it.
The balcony is supported by wooden suspension rods, which go all the way to the ceiling of the attic.
The attic itself has wooden joists, with 2x12 boards laid side-by-side for additional support. The tile
roof is extremely heavy, requiring a very strong support system. The pillars to support it run to the
peak of the roof. Below the roof, steel I beams are laid in a gridwork pattern, providing an extra
measure of support for the roof.

The heating tunnel lies about four feet above the basement floor of Spencer, which is four feet below
ground level. The basement contains small windows at ground level, which help to light it. The
basement originally consisted of classrooms. At some point before 1940, it was redone, and the Farr
Meditation Chapel and the recreation center were put in.

The fireproof building contains an auditorium that seats one thousand people. The auditorium walls
have paneled wainscoting with a cream-colored enamel finish, that faded to white near the ceiling, for
maximum lighting efficiency. Windows are of opaque glass. The interior ceiling of the auditorium
was redone about 1950. The original ceiling was hard wall plaster, and gave the room marvelous
acoustics. About 1950 it was covered over with acoustic tile, and these are now badly stained.

The total cost of the facility topped $100,000.

A recent campaign has begun to raise funds for renovation of the building. A large farm (120 acres)
formerly owned by Caroline Wilcox, has been given by George and Anne Johnson Walker, the
income of which is to be used for the renovation.

In excavating for the foundation of Spencer Memorial Chapel, workmen found the remains of the old
home once occupied by John White, original owner of the tract of land subsequently purchased by
Penn College with money donated by Charles and Albert Johnson.

The massive Kilgen pipe organ given by the two Spencer daughters is placed behind the stage. The
balcony contains a smaller pipe organ used when the Kilgen is under repair.

The integrity of this building is high. Very little alteration has taken place. Concerning condition, the
wooden cornice and denticulation is deteriorated in places. The interior auditorium ceiling has been
covered over with acoustic tile, which is now badly waterstained.

Gymnasium and Addition

Begun in 1955 and completed in early 1957, the footprint of this gymnasium measures approximately
110" x 112", It is sited at the head of Penn Boulevard and forms a vista for that street when
approaching the Penn College Historic District from the south. The building rests on a concrete
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foundation. Featuring a clear span roof covered with built-up composition, the gymnasium was
constructed of red brick to match the other historic campus buildings.

The gymnasium was connected to the Central Heating Plant, whose boiler capacity was increased to
handle the higher demand for hot water.

In 1969-1970, an addition was constructed to the rear of the gymnasium. This space, measuring
approximately 107" x 150", was also clad on the exterior in red brick. The addition also employs a
great deal of concrete on the exterior, including formed oval panels on the east elevation and a concrete
cornice, which surrounds the addition.

The gymnasium and addition are intrusions in the Penn College Historic District because they postdate
the period of significance for this nomination. This resource's significance should be reevaluated
when it reaches 50 years of age.

Southeast Memorial Gate

Constructed circa 1920, the Southeast Memorial Gate stands on the northwest corner of the
intersection of North Market Street and Trueblood Avenue. In this regard, the gate serves as an
entrance to the Penn College Historic District and marks the southeastern most limits of its boundaries.

This gate is composed of two stone columns, square in plan and standing about seven feet high, which
flank a pedestrian walk leading diagonally to Spencer Memorial Chapel. Like the walk, the columns
are sited on a diagonal so that they face the southeast. A stone wall, about four feet in height, runs
from the northern column about ten feet to the north along North Market Street.

Like its counterpart the Southwest Memorial Gate, this feature was constructed of "stone salvaged
from the foundations of Spring Creek Insttute, the old Yearly Meeting House, and old Main
Building." (Watson, William Penn College, p. 78.) Because they were constructed as memorials,
they are assumed to have been built soon after the members of the classes donated the funds,
presumably upon or shortly after their graduations.

uthwest Memorial G

Constructed circa 1920, the Southwest Memorial Gate stands at the entrance to a vehicular drive
situated directly east of the Gymnasium and west of the Penn College Quadrangle.

This gate is composed of a series of stone columns and walls. Two tall columns, square in plan and
standing about seven feet high, flank the vehicular drive. Nearby and running at right angles to these
columns two stone walls, about ten feet in length, flank each side of the approach to the drive. These
walls begin and end with smaller stone columns.
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Like its counterpart the Southeast Memorial Gate, this feature was constructed of “stone salvaged from
the foundations of Spring Creek Institute, the old Yearly Meeting House, and old Main Building."

(Ibid., p. 78.) Because they were constructed as memorials, they are assumed to have been built soon
after the members of the classes donated the funds, presumably upon or shortly after their graduations.

Women's Residence Building

Constructed in 1916-1917, the Women's Residence Building is a large, 2-1/2 story, el-shaped edifice.
The footprint of the south portion of this building measures approximately 122' x 61'. It contains the
main entrance to the building. The northem portion measures approximately 162' x 68'. These two
portions are connected by an exterior hallway on the west elevation. Altogether, the complex contains
four "cottages," each separate residential units for women and each named for historic Quaker women:
Margaret Fell Cottage, Elizabeth Fry Cottage, Mary Dyer Cottage, and Sybil Jones Cottage.

This building is now named Lewis Hall in honor of a long-serving member of the Penn College
faculty and administration, Rosa E. Lewis.

The building rests on a brick and concrete foundation. The structural system of this building is
masonry load bearing walls. Exterior walls are clad with brick and Bedford stone. The low-pitched
roof systems contain two intersecting hip-on-gable roofs with hipped dormer windows. Although the
roof was originally covered with tile, it is now covered with asphalt shingles.

The Women's Residence Building is made up of four units, called "cottages.” Architect A. T.
Simmons' original drawings and plans called for two additional cottages on the north end, paralleling
those on the south. These last two were never implemented. Had the original plan been followed, the
building would form a large U shape. As it now is, the building is el-shaped. The building was
planned for the old-campus site, and the original drawing, which now hangs in Wilcox Library,
shows it in yellow brick with a red tile roof, to match the College Avenue Meeting House, which
Simmons had earlier designed. Penn Hall was also designed in this way.

As constructed, the Women's Residence Building, Penn Hall, and the Central Heating Plant are all
built of rough, dark red brick, with Bedford stone trim, and they all originally had red tile roofs,
possibly made at Sheffield, Iowa, near Mason City. In the years since, both Lewis and Penn have
been reroofed twice. About 1980 the tile roofs of Lewis and Penn were removed because replacement
tiles could no longer be found, and a heavy shingle was used for the replacement roof. These shingles
cracked very easily because of their weight. These buildings have been reroofed again in the last few
years, this time with a lighter-weight red shingle.

During construction, temporary tracks were laid in front of Lewis Hall to bring in building supplies by
train. The spur that connected these tracks to the main line of the Minneapolis & St. Louis Railroad
tracks remained in place until well into the 1940s. It was used to carry coal to the Central Heating

Plant.
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On the interior, the formal parlor in the southwest corner of the building has original plaster cast
ceilings and wall ornamentation in excellent condition. The informal parlor in the southeast corner,
originally the college dining room, has some plaster castings on the ceiling as well. The walls in this
room consist of yellow brick on the lower portions with plaster above. All interior floors are made of
concrete to minimize the possibility of fire damage. The exterior covered hallway connecting the four
cottages appears to be unique and is functional as well as decorative. It is the only way one can pass
from one cottage to another.

The upper floor of the two cottages on the south, and all three floors of the two cottages to the north
consist of living areas for women students. (See attached plan.) Each floor contains a central
stairway, with one living area on each side. The living areas contain central parlors, each with a
central brick fireplace, with a bathroom and bedrooms radiating off from it. In addition to providing
small, comfortable, more-homelike units for the students, this arrangement also maximizes the
window space and provides each room with a good view, particularly on the upper-most floors.
Originally each student had a bedroom of her own, although within a short time most of the rooms
became doubles.

At the time of planning, the possibility of fire again destroying a college building was uppermost in the
minds of those responsible for the design of the new buildings. As a consequence, both Lewis and
Penn Halls are as fireproof as buildings could be built at the time. Within Lewis, each cottage is
separated from the others by brick firewalls that extend the entire height of the buildings. All of the
interior walls are made of gypsum, and no wooden studs were used. A few attic rafters are made of
wood, the only wood used in the construction of the building. All of the floors are concrete, to
minimize the potential of fire. Only one fire is known to have occurred in the history of the building,
breaking out in a room on the third floor of one of the cottages, but because of the building's design, it
did not spread, and the damage was limited to only two rooms.

No wooden joists were used in the construction of this building's flooring. Instead. all floor joists are
of poured concrete, in U-shaped forms th<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>